
 

 

 
REGULAR BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
Thursday, January 15, 2026 at 1:30 p.m. 
GVB Conference Room and Teleconference - Zoom 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89090779984?pwd=aeGojojPvOMoNDxc4fVCdfQIuBHngK.1  
Meeting ID: 890 9077 9984 
Passcode: visitguam 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

• The GVB Board of Directors meeting was called to order at 1:38PM. 

II. ROLL CALL 

• In-Person: George Chiu, Jeff Jones, Clifford Guzman, Ho Eun, Robert Hofmann, Michelle 

Merfalen, Mike Sgro, Ken Yanagisawa, Joanne Brown  

• Online: Joaquin Cook 

• Absent: Brian Artero 

III. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (December 11, 2025) 

• Motion to approve meeting minutes dated December 11, 2025 made by Director Jones 

and seconded by Director Hofmann. Motion approved. 

IV. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

• Confidential regulatory matter, anticipated personnel litigation 

• Executive session canceled for this board meeting due to non-attendance of GVB 

legal counsel. 

V. ACTION BY THE BOARD 

VI. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 

• Chairman Chiu recognized the GVB Taiwan team member, Jessica Chang. The 

Chairman acknowledged that this meeting is the first of the year and thanked Director 

Eun for his tourism presentation at the Guam Chamber of Commerce Economic Forum 

that morning, noting that the December arrival numbers are a step in the right 

direction. 

VII. MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

• Chairman Chiu asked Director of Research Christian Valencia how data is collected, to 

which Mr. Valencia replied that data is collected based on people’s phone locations. 

Chairman Chiu further asked how they know which phones to track, and Director of 

Global Marketing Nadine Leon Guerrero said that people must opt in and that GVB 

creates the geofenced areas, and within those areas they calculate pings from people’s 

phones.  



 

 

• Director Yanagisawa asked about why the Tumon Night Market is not one of the 

included locations. GVB President and CEO Régine Biscoe Lee noted the Tumon Night 

Market did not exist during the time of this project’s creation. 

 

 

• Director Yanagisawa noted that the Yonino channel is a trend and the people in it are 

from a famous idol group, noting that their way of doing videos is not structured, but 

rather very loose which makes the content very exciting. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

• Director Brown suggested having an in-person meeting over a survey going out to 

Tumon Night Market vendors and surrounding businesses, and emphasized that outreach 

is important, stating that some businesses were not aware that the Tumon Night Market 

would be a year-round event and should be at the table. Director Brown suggested 

adjusting the venue during the dry season so that there is some relief for the Pleasure 

Island businesses. She further noted that GVB certainly wants to support the event, but 

there is a need to minimize the adverse effects on surrounding businesses. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Chairman Chiu recognized GVB Oversight Chairman, Senator Jesse A. Lujan. 

• Senator Lujan noted that without change, GVB will not receive any monetary support 

from the Legislature. He noted that the Bureau was not producing results, saying that he 

took a gamble on including the $10 million in airline incentives into the budget, and since 

then there has not been any real progress in increased yield. 

• Director Eun stated that if a chicken is not laying eggs, the answer is not to stop feeding 

the chicken altogether, and that we cannot afford to think that way. Director Eun made a 

reference to the state of Hawaii tourism and noted that Guam is in the same situation. 



 

 

• Senator Lujan noted that there was an oversight hearing with Customs and Quarantine 

and that the Department of Administration (DOA) had not disbursed the money the 

agency needed. 

• President Lee stated that there is an allotment schedule for the $10 million in airline 

incentives and DOA were very timely with this allotment schedule. 

• Senator Lujan discussed the upcoming closure of T-Galleria as well as Lotte Department 

Store at the airport and noted that he will be introducing a bill in the upcoming days that 

will allow GVB to go back to having a governing board instead of an advisory board. 

• Mr. Valencia repeated his presentation of the arrival numbers as Senator Lujan was not 

present for this portion of the meeting. Chairman Chiu noted that the tourism industry is 

recovering, and while it is not where Guam needs to be, it is a start, and thanked Senator 

Jesse for advocating for the $10 million in airline incentives. 

VIII. REPORT OF BOARD COMMITTEES 

A. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

B. ADMINISTRATION & GOVERNMENT 

C. DESTINATION MANAGEMENT/ VISTOR SAFETY & SATISFACTION 

D. CULTURAL HERITAGE & COMMUNITY OUTREACH 

E. RESEARCH 

F. SPORTS & EVENTS 

G. JAPAN 

• Committee Meeting Minutes dated December 16, 2025 

H. KOREA 

• Committee Meeting Minutes dated December 16, 2025 

I. TAIWAN 

J. NORTH AMERICA, PACIFIC, PHILIPPINES & NEW MARKETS 

• Committee Meeting Minutes dated January 5, 2026 

• Mayor Hofmann noted that there are 43 fiestas happening this year and that 

he hopes that visitors will be able to enjoy these along with residents. 

K. MEMBERSHIP  

• Director Merfalen thanked those who attended the end of the year mixer as 

well as Director Yanagisawa for giving the opening remarks. She noted that 



 

 

there are tentative dates for this year’s mixer as well as the first membership 

meeting in the first week of February, which is also still tentative. 

L. RECOVERY COMMITTEE 

IX. OLD BUSINESS CORPORATION 

X. OTHER BUSINESS 

• Election of Chairpersons for Committees 

o Taiwan Marketing Committee 

 Motion to elect Director Michelle Merflaen as the Taiwan 

Marketing Committee Chairperson made by Director Hofmann 

and seconded by Director Sgro. Motion approved unanimously. 

o Sports & Events 

 Motion to elect Director Mike Sgro as the Sports & Events 

Committee Chairperson made by Director Hofmann and 

seconded by Director Eun. Motion approved unanimously. 

o Research 

 Motion to elect Director Clifford Guzman as Research 

Committee Chairperson made by Director Hofmann and 

seconded by Director Jones. Motion approved unanimously. 

XI. AGENDA ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING 

• Director Brown requested that the status of park facilities be added to next 

meeting’s agenda. 

XII. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

• Upcoming Board Meetings: February 26, 2026, March 26, 2026 

XIII. ADJOURNMENT 

• Motion to adjourn made by Director Sgro and seconded by Director 

Guzman. Motion approved. The GVB Board of Directors meeting was 

adjourned at 3:27PM. 

 


